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regulations in this part. Each failure to 
pay an individual worker properly or to 
honor the terms or conditions of a 
worker’s employment required by 8 
U.S.C. 1188, 20 CFR part 655, subpart B, 
or the regulations in this part con-
stitutes a separate violation. 

(b) In determining the amount of 
penalty to be assessed for each viola-
tion, the WHD Administrator shall 
consider the type of violation com-
mitted and other relevant factors. The 
factors that may be considered include, 
but are not limited to, the following: 

(1) Previous history of violation(s) of 
8 U.S.C. 1188, 20 CFR part 655, subpart 
B, or the regulations in this part; 

(2) The number of H–2A workers, 
workers in corresponding employment, 
or U.S. workers who were and/or are af-
fected by the violation(s); 

(3) The gravity of the violation(s); 
(4) Efforts made in good faith to com-

ply with 8 U.S.C. 1188, 20 CFR part 655, 
subpart B, and the regulations in this 
part; 

(5) Explanation from the person 
charged with the violation(s); 

(6) Commitment to future compli-
ance, taking into account the public 
health, interest or safety, and whether 
the person has previously violated 8 
U.S.C. 1188; 

(7) The extent to which the violator 
achieved a financial gain due to the 
violation, or the potential financial 
loss or potential injury to the workers. 

(c) A civil money penalty for each 
violation of the work contract or a re-
quirement of 8 U.S.C. 1188, 20 CFR part 
655, subpart B, or the regulations in 
this part will not exceed $1,500 per vio-
lation, with the following exceptions: 

(1) A civil money penalty for each 
willful violation of the work contract, 
or of 8 U.S.C. 1188, 20 CFR part 655, sub-
part B, or the regulations in this part, 
or for each act of discrimination pro-
hibited by § 501.4 shall not exceed $5,000; 

(2) A civil money penalty for a viola-
tion of a housing or transportation 
safety and health provision of the work 
contract, or any obligation under 8 
U.S.C. 1188, 20 CFR part 655, subpart B, 
or the regulations in this part, that 
proximately causes the death or seri-
ous injury of any worker shall not ex-
ceed $50,000 per worker; 

(3) For purposes of this section, the 
term serious injury includes, but is not 
limited to: 

(i) Permanent loss or substantial im-
pairment of one of the senses (sight, 
hearing, taste, smell, tactile sensa-
tion); 

(ii) Permanent loss or substantial im-
pairment of the function of a bodily 
member, organ or mental faculty, in-
cluding the loss of all or part of an 
arm, leg, foot, hand or other body part; 
or 

(iii) Permanent paralysis or substan-
tial impairment that causes loss of 
movement or mobility of an arm, leg, 
foot, hand or other body part. 

(4) A civil money penalty for a repeat 
or willful violation of a housing or 
transportation safety and health provi-
sion of the work contract, or any obli-
gation under 8 U.S.C. 1188, 20 CFR part 
655, subpart B, or the regulations in 
this part, that proximately causes the 
death or serious injury of any worker, 
shall not exceed $100,000 per worker. 

(d) A civil money penalty for failure 
to cooperate with a WHD investigation 
shall not exceed $5,000 per investiga-
tion. 

(e) A civil money penalty for laying 
off or displacing any U.S. worker em-
ployed in work or activities that are 
encompassed by the approved Applica-
tion for Temporary Employment Certifi-
cation for H–2A workers in the area of 
intended employment either within 60 
days preceding the date of need or dur-
ing the validity period of the job order, 
including any approved extension 
thereof, other than for a lawful, job-re-
lated reason, shall not exceed $15,000 
per violation per worker. 

(f) A civil money penalty for improp-
erly rejecting a U.S. worker who is an 
applicant for employment, in violation 
of 8 U.S.C. 1188, 20 CFR part 655, sub-
part B, or the regulations in this part, 
shall not exceed $15,000 per violation 
per worker. 

§ 501.20 Debarment and revocation. 
(a) Debarment of an employer. The 

WHD Administrator may debar an em-
ployer or any successor in interest to 
that employer from receiving future 
labor certifications under 20 CFR part 
655, subpart B, subject to the time lim-
its set forth in paragraph (c) of this 
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section, if: the WHD Administrator 
finds that the employer substantially 
violated a material term or condition 
of its temporary labor certification, 
with respect to H–2A workers, workers 
in corresponding employment, or U.S. 
workers improperly rejected for em-
ployment, or improperly laid off or dis-
placed, by issuing a Notice of Debar-
ment. 

(b) Debarment of an agent or an attor-
ney. The WHD Administrator may 
debar an agent or attorney from par-
ticipating in any action under 8 U.S.C. 
1188, 20 CFR part 655, subpart B or 29 
CFR part 501, if the WHD Adminis-
trator finds that the agent or attorney 
participated in an employer’s substan-
tial violation, by issuing a Notice of 
Debarment. The OFLC Administrator 
may not issue future labor certifi-
cations to any employer represented by 
a debarred agent or attorney, subject 
to the time limits set forth in para-
graph (c) of this section. 

(c) Statute of Limitations and Period of 
Debarment. (1) The WHD Administrator 
must issue any Notice of Debarment no 
later than 2 years after the occurrence 
of the violation. 

(2) No employer, attorney, or agent 
may be debarred under this subpart for 
more than 3 years from the date of the 
final agency decision. 

(d) Definition of violation. For the pur-
poses of this section, a violation in-
cludes: 

(1) One or more acts of commission or 
omission on the part of the employer 
or the employer’s agent which involve: 

(i) Failure to pay or provide the re-
quired wages, benefits or working con-
ditions to the employer’s H–2A workers 
and/or workers in corresponding em-
ployment; 

(ii) Failure, except for lawful, job-re-
lated reasons, to offer employment to 
qualified U.S. workers who applied for 
the job opportunity for which certifi-
cation was sought; 

(iii) Failure to comply with the em-
ployer’s obligations to recruit U.S. 
workers; 

(iv) Improper layoff or displacement 
of U.S. workers or workers in cor-
responding employment; 

(v) Failure to comply with one or 
more sanctions or remedies imposed by 
the WHD Administrator for violation(s) 

of contractual or other H–2A obliga-
tions, or with one or more decisions or 
orders of the Secretary or a court 
under 8 U.S.C. 1188, 20 CFR part 655, 
subpart B, or the regulations in this 
part; 

(vi) Impeding an investigation of an 
employer under 8 U.S.C. 1188, 20 CFR 
part 655, subpart B, or the regulations 
in this part; 

(vii) Employing an H–2A worker out-
side the area of intended employment, 
or in an activity/activities not listed in 
the job order or outside the validity pe-
riod of employment of the job order, in-
cluding any approved extension there-
of; 

(viii) A violation of the requirements 
of 20 CFR 655.135(j) or (k); 

(ix) A violation of any of the provi-
sions listed in § 501.4(a) of this subpart; 
or 

(x) A single heinous act showing such 
flagrant disregard for the law that fu-
ture compliance with program require-
ments cannot reasonably be expected. 

(2) In determining whether a viola-
tion is so substantial as to merit debar-
ment, the factors set forth in § 501.19(b) 
shall be considered. 

(e) Procedural Requirements. The No-
tice of Debarment must be in writing, 
must state the reason for the debar-
ment finding, including a detailed ex-
planation of the grounds for and the 
duration of the debarment, must iden-
tify appeal opportunities under § 501.33 
and a timeframe under which such 
rights must be exercised and must 
comply with § 501.32. The debarment 
will take effect 30 days from the date 
the Notice of Debarment is issued, un-
less a request for review is properly 
filed within 30 days from the issuance 
of the Notice of Debarment. The timely 
filing of an administrative appeal stays 
the debarment pending the outcome of 
the appeal as provided in § 501.33(d). 

(f) Debarment involving members of as-
sociations. If, after investigation, the 
WHD Administrator determines that 
an individual employer-member of a 
joint employer association has com-
mitted a substantial violation, the de-
barment determination will apply only 
to that member unless the WHD Ad-
ministrator determines that the asso-
ciation or another association member 
participated in the violation, in which 
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case the debarment will be invoked 
against the association or other 
complicit association member(s) as 
well. 

(g) Debarment involving associations 
acting as sole employers. If, after inves-
tigation, the WHD Administrator de-
termines that an association acting as 
a sole employer has committed a sub-
stantial violation, the debarment de-
termination will apply only to the as-
sociation and any successor in interest 
to the debarred association. 

(h) Debarment involving associations 
acting as joint employers. If, after inves-
tigation, the WHD Administrator de-
termines that an association acting as 
a joint employer with its members has 
committed a substantial violation, the 
debarment determination will apply 
only to the association, and will not be 
applied to any individual employer- 
member of the association. However, if 
the WHD Administrator determines 
that the member participated in, had 
knowledge of, or had reason to know of 
the violation, the debarment may be 
invoked against the complicit associa-
tion member as well. An association 
debarred from the H–2A temporary 
labor certification program will not be 
permitted to continue to file as a joint 
employer with its members during the 
period of the debarment. 

(i) Revocation. The WHD may rec-
ommend to the OFLC Administrator 
the revocation of a temporary agricul-
tural labor certification if the WHD 
finds that the employer: 

(1) Substantially violated a material 
term or condition of the approved tem-
porary labor certification. 

(2) Failed to cooperate with a DOL 
investigation or with a DOL official 
performing an investigation, inspec-
tion, or law enforcement function 
under 8 U.S.C. 1188, 20 CFR part 655, 
subpart B, or this part; or 

(3) Failed to comply with one or more 
sanctions or remedies imposed by the 
WHD, or with one or more decisions or 
orders of the Secretary or a court order 
secured by the Secretary under 8 U.S.C. 
1188, 20 CFR part 655, subpart B, or this 
part. 

§ 501.21 Failure to cooperate with in-
vestigations. 

(a) No person shall refuse to cooper-
ate with any employee of the Secretary 
who is exercising or attempting to ex-
ercise this investigative or enforce-
ment authority. 

(b) Where an employer (or employer’s 
agent or attorney) does not cooperate 
with an investigation concerning the 
employment of an H–2A worker, a 
worker in corresponding employment, 
or a U.S. worker who has been improp-
erly rejected for employment or im-
properly laid off or displaced, WHD 
may make such information available 
to OFLC and may recommend that 
OFLC revoke the existing certification 
that is the basis for the employment of 
the H–2A workers giving rise to the in-
vestigation. In addition, WHD may 
take such action as appropriate, in-
cluding initiating proceedings for the 
debarment of the employer from future 
certification for up to 3 years, seeking 
an injunction, and/or assessing civil 
money penalties against any person 
who has failed to cooperate with a 
WHD investigation. The taking of any 
one action shall not bar the taking of 
any additional action. 

§ 501.22 Civil money penalties—pay-
ment and collection. 

Where a civil money penalty is as-
sessed in a final order by the WHD Ad-
ministrator, by an ALJ, or by the Ad-
ministrative Review Board (ARB), the 
amount of the penalty must be re-
ceived by the WHD Administrator 
within 30 days of the date of the final 
order. The person assessed such pen-
alty shall remit the amount ordered to 
the WHD Administrator by certified 
check or by money order, made payable 
to the Wage and Hour Division, United 
States Department of Labor. The re-
mittance shall be delivered or mailed 
to the WHD Regional Office for the 
area in which the violations occurred. 

Subpart C—Administrative 
Proceedings 

§ 501.30 Applicability of procedures 
and rules. 

The procedures and rules contained 
herein prescribe the administrative 
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